# VĚDECKÉ SPISY VYSOKÉHO UČENÍ TECHNICKÉHO V BRNĚ

Edice Habilitační a inaugurační spisy, sv. 402 ISSN 1213-418X

Lukáš Rachůnek

# SECOND ORDER DISCRETE BOUNDARY VALUE PROBLEMS

VYSOKÉ UČENÍ TECHNICKÉ V BRNĚ Fakulta strojního inženýrství

RNDr. Lukáš Rachůnek, Ph.D.

# Second order discrete boundary value problems

Diskrétní okrajové problémy druhého řádu

Zkrácená verze habilitační práce



#### Klíčová slova:

Diferenční rovnice, Dirichletův problém, smíšený problém, singularity, aproximační princip, problém membrány, modely bublin, homoklinický bod, homoklinické řešení.

#### Keywords:

Difference equations, Dirichlet problem, mixed problem, singularities, approximation principle, membrane problem, bubble models, homoclinic point, homoclinic solution.

Originál práce je uložen ve fakultní knihovně Fakulty strojního inžený<br/>rství VUT v Brně.

© Lukáš Rachůnek, 2011 ISBN 978-80-214-4347-1 ISSN 1213-418X

# Contents

Představení autora habilitační práce			
I. Introduction	6		
II. Discrete boundary value problems on compact intervals	10		
1 Dirichlet problem	11		
2 Singular mixed problem with <i>p</i> -Laplacian	12		
III. Discretization of differential boundary value problems	13		
3 Discrete and continuous singular mixed problems	13		
4 Problems arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps	15		
IV. Boundary value problems arising in hydrodynamics	16		
5 Construction of bubble-models	16		
6 Four types of solutions of non-autonomous difference equations	17		
References			
Author's publications list			
Abstract			

# Představení autora habilitační práce

Jméno: Tituly: Datum narození: Místo narození: Bydliště: Rodinný stav:	Lukáš Rachů RNDr., Ph.D 20. 11. 1974 Olomouc Olomouc svobodný	
Vzdělání:	1993–1998,	Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci, obor Učitelství všeobecně vzdělávacích předmětů, aprobační předměty matematika a deskriptivní geometrie
	1998	titul Mgr., Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci
	1999–2003,	Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci, doktorské studium, obor Algebra a geometrie
	2004	titul Ph.D., Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci
	2004	titul RNDr., Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci
Zaměstnání:	1998–2005,	Ústav matematiky Fakulty technologické Univerzity Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně, asistent, později odborný asistent
	2001–dosud,	Katedra algebry a geometrie Přírodovědecké fakulty Univerzity Palackého v Olomouci, odborný asistent

Během svého působení na Univerzitě Tomáše Bati ve Zlíně vedl přednášky a cvičení z algebry, geometrie a informatiky a cvičení z matematické analýzy. Na Univerzitě Palackého v Olomouci vedl přednášky a cvičení předmětů Aplikace deskriptivní geometrie 1 a 2 s využitím programu DesignCAD a v současnosti zabezpečuje výuku předmětů Zobrazovací metody 1 a 2. Dále vybudoval a učí předměty Výpočetní geometrie 1 a 2 a Počítačová grafika 1 a 4 zaměřené na prostorové modelování, typografii, zobrazování grafů funkcí, technické rýsování a vytváření a úpravu digitální grafiky. Byl spoluřešitelem grantu na zřízení této učebny a je správcem její unixové části. Vedl tři bakalářské diplomové práce z geometrie a počítačové grafiky. Je autorem, resp. spoluautorem, tří učebních textů, z nichž dva jsou z matematiky a jeden z počítačové učebny. Byl členem kolektivu, který připravil a zpracoval podklady pro studijní plán nového studijního oboru zaměřeného na počítačovou grafiku a grafický design.

V rámci doktorského studia pod vedením prof. Mikeše vypracoval a obhájil dizertační práci z diferenciální geometrie. V této oblasti je spoluautorem šesti vědeckých článků o torzoformních polích v semisymetrických prostorech. O publikovaných výsledcích referoval na seminářích a konferencích. Byl členem řešitelského kolektivu grantového projektu Riemannova a afinní geometrie podporovaná počítačem, 201/05/2707 (odpovědný řešitel prof. RNDr. Josef Mikeš, DrSc.). V současnosti svůj výzkum zaměřuje na diskrétní matematiku, speciálně na diskrétní dynamické systémy. Je autorem jednoho a spoluautorem devíti článků o řešitelnosti diferenčních rovnic, které byly publikovány v impaktovaných matematických časopisech. Je autorem nebo spoluautorem celkem 21 publikací, z toho 10 v impaktovaných časopisech (např. Jounal of Difference Equations and Applications, Nonlinear Analysis, Abstract and Applied Analysis). Je recenzentem mezinárodního časopisu Applications of Mathematics.

#### I. Introduction

This habilitation dissertation is devoted to second order discrete boundary value problems. Essentially, this is a collection of the papers [26]–[34], which provides new or more general existence results for regular discrete problems. Singular discrete problems studied here have not been solved before.

Chapter II of the dissertation consists of Sections 1–5 and is a compilation of the papers [26] and [27]. Sections 1 and 2 deal with the discrete Dirichlet problem. In particular, known existence results by Y. Li [23] are generalized. A characterization of regular and singular boundary value problems is given in Section 3. Sections 4 and 5 study the discrete mixed problem with the *p*-Laplacian  $\phi_p(y) = |y|^{p-2}y, p > 1$ , both in regular and in singular cases. The existence results proved here extend and generalize the previous ones for the regular case by Z. He [15]. The singular case is new.

Chapter III of the thesis is formed by Sections 6–13 and contains results of the papers [28]–[30]. The solvability of difference and differential boundary value problems on compact intervals and their connections are discussed there. In Section 6, the lower and upper functions method is extended for singular difference equations. The main result of Section 7 provides conditions for the solvability of a sequence of singular discrete mixed problems. In addition, solutions of these problems give a sequence of approximate functions locally uniformly converging for  $n \to \infty$  to a solution of the corresponding singular differential mixed problem. Section 7 is completed by two examples demonstrating the theory. In Section 8 we derive a mathematical model describing a rescaled radial stress of shallow membrane caps. Such model can be transformed to a singular difference mixed problem and we provide conditions for its solvability. In Sections 8 and 9 we also prove the lower and upper functions method as well as the approximation principle for more general cases. Using these results, we find conditions for the solvability of the generalized membrane problems in Section 10. Further generalization of singular mixed problems of previous sections is proved in Sections 11–13, which are based on the paper [30]. Here we consider equations admitting discontinuities not only at a boundary, but also inside a given region.

Difference and differential equations on the half-line are considered in Chapter IV of the dissertation, which is based on the papers [31]–[34] and which has Sections 14–19. Section 14 shows a construction of a mathematical model describing a density profile of a gas in bubbles in some liquid. Such model leads to the differential problem having so-called bubble-type solutions. If we properly extend the equation on the real line, bubble-type solutions become homoclinic solutions of the extended equation. Section 15 (by the paper [31]) investigates an autonomous discrete case of the problem and provides the existence of homoclinic points of the corresponding autonomous difference equation. A non-autonomous discrete case of the problem is studied in Sections 16–19. Section 16 describes four types of possible solutions of this equation: escape, homoclinic, damped and non-monotonous solutions. Section 17 provides the first existence result about the existence of non-monotonous or damped solutions. This is contained in the paper [32]. Section 18 (by the paper [33]) gives the second existence result about the existence of escape solutions. Section 19 (by the paper [34]) presents the third existence result about the existence of homoclinic solutions. This is the main result of Chapter IV. Examples with numerical simulations illustrate the results of Chapter IV.

#### Motivation of this work

Difference equations and their associated operators occupy a central and growing area in modern applicable analysis. We refer to the monographs [1], [5], [6], [12], [19], [22], [36], [37], [40]. Linear and nonlinear difference equations appear as direct mathematical models in almost all areas of science, engineering and technology where discrete phenomena abound, but also provide the field of numerical analysis with powerful tools. From the advent and rise of computers, where differential equations are solved by employing their approximative difference formulations, the interest in studying difference equations has been increasing even more. Difference equations usually describe the evolution of certain phenomena over the course of time. This description allows to compute a sequence of values recursively from a given set of values. The following examples have been chosen to illustrate the diversity of the uses and types of difference equations.

• In some bottom-feeding fish populations, recruitment appears to be essentially unaffected by fishing. These species have very high fertility rates and very low survivorship to adulthood. This leads to the Beverton and Holt population model (1957)

$$x(n+1) = \frac{ax(n)}{1+bx(n)}$$

with positive constants a, b, which is equivalent to the Verhulst difference equation. ([8], p. 72)

• It was observed that some species of fish, including salmon, habitually cannibalize their eggs and young. Such population can be described be the Ricker metered model (1958) which has a form of the nonlinear first order difference equation

$$x(n+1) = \alpha x(n) \mathrm{e}^{-\beta x(n)},$$

where  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  are positive constants. ([8], p. 73)

• The difference equation of an order k + 1

$$x(n+1) = ax(n) + F(x(n-k))$$

is often used to study whale populations. Here x(n) represents the adult breeding population,  $a \in [0, 1]$  is the survival coefficient, and F(x(n - k))is the recruitment to the adult stage with a delay of k years. ([8], p. 77)

• In the study of the effects of selection and mutation in genetics a nonlinear difference equation of the form

$$p(n+1) = (1-\mu)\frac{p(n)}{1-s+2sp(n)-sp^2(n)}$$

has been developed. Here one particular gene which has two alleles, A and a, is studied, and p(n) is the fraction of A-alleles among the adults of generation n. It is assumed that all individuals with at least one A-allele reach adulthood, but that only a certain fraction, say 1 - s, of the a-homozygotes reach adulthood. Further assumption is that the alleles mutate from A- to a-alleles and  $\mu$  is the mutation rate (the fraction of A-alleles that mutate). ([36], p. 143)

• Samuelson's business cycle model is built on the following assumptions. Current consumption C(t) is a linear increasing function of previous period's income Y(t-1) and current investment I(t) rises with rising consumption C(t) - C(t-1). More precisely

$$C(t) = cY(t-1), \quad I(t) = v(C(t) - C(t-1)),$$

where  $c \in (0, 1)$ , v > 0 are parameters and Y(t) = C(t) + I(t) + G(t) is a national accounting identity and G(t) = 1 is a fixed government expenditure level. Substitution gives a typical second order difference equation for the national income Y(t)

$$Y(t) - c(1+v)Y(t-1) + cvY(t-2) = 1,$$

where Y(0), Y(1) are given. ([40], p. 54)

• The classical Hansen-Samuelson's accelerator-multiplier model is given by the same second order difference equation as before

$$y(n) = cy(n-1) + \alpha(y(n-1) - y(n-2)) + A_0,$$

where the constant  $A_0 = C_0 + I_0 + G_0$  represents the sum of the minimum consumption, the autonomous investment and the fixed government spending, and y(n) is the national income in period n. The coefficient  $\alpha > 0$ is the accelerator and the constant  $c \in (0, 1)$  represents Keynes' marginal propensity to consume, while  $\frac{1}{1-c}$  is Keynes' multiplier. ([37], p. 243) • International macroeconomic data exhibit substantial and persistent fluctuations in the real exchange rates for currencies. In the model proposed by S. Chen in 1999, the real exchange rate x(n) (defined as the ratio of the domestic currency price to the price of domestic output) of a given country is determined according to the second order nonlinear difference equation

$$x(n+1) = x(n) + \frac{1}{\mu}(bx^{3}(n-1) - ax^{2}(n) + cx(n) - d),$$

where  $a, b, c, d, \mu$  are positive constants. ([37], p. 345)

• The system

$$x(n+1) = ax(n)e^{-by(n)}, \quad y(n+1) = cx(n)(1-e^{by(n)})$$

is known as the Nicholson and Bailey model (1935) for a host-parasite system; x(n) denotes the number of hosts and y(n) the number of parasites. ([8], p. 79)

• A special case of the business cycles model by Botomazava and Touzé (1998) is given by the second order equation

$$k(n+1) = (1-\tau)\beta k(n) - (1-\tau)\frac{\beta}{\alpha}k^{2}(n-1),$$

where k(n) is the capital per household in period n, the constants  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  satisfy  $\alpha, \beta > 0$  and a payroll tax rate  $\tau$  belongs to [0, 1). ([37], p. 352)

• Consider the simplest example of the Fermi acceleration model: a point mass moving between a fixed wall and an oscillating wall. We simplify the setup of the model by assuming that the amplitude a of the wall oscillation is very small compared to the distance L of the walls. When the particle with a velocity v is reflected elastically from the massive wall moving with a velocity V, it rebounds with a velocity  $\tilde{v} = -v + 2V$ . In the case considered here, we register the particle velocity just before the n-th impact as  $v_n > 0$ . The particle hits the oscillating wall at a phase  $\Phi_n$  and is reflected with a velocity  $-v_n + 2V(\Phi_n)$ , where V is a velocity of the oscillating wall. Then it moves to the fixed wall, is reflected and returns with a velocity

$$v_{n+1} = v_n - 2V(\Phi_n),$$

after a time  $2L/|v_{n+1}|$ . If the wall velocity oscillates with period T, the phase of the wall oscillation at the next impact is given by

$$\Phi_{n+1} = \Phi_n + \frac{2L}{Tv_{n+1}}$$

This system can be transformed to the second order difference equation

$$y(n+1) = y(n) + (y(n) - y(n-1)) \frac{1}{1 - \frac{T}{L}V(y(n))}.$$

([21], p. 137)

• Finally, two models arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps and in the hydrodynamics, which have forms of nonlinear second order difference equations, are derived and investigated in details in Chapter III and Chapter IV of the habilitation dissertation, respectively.

#### Main objectives of this work

- 1. To prove new existence results for Dirichlet problems and for singular mixed problems with *p*-Laplacian.
- 2. To investigate the connection between singular difference and differential boundary value problems on compact intervals and to derive an approximation principle.
- 3. To construct a mathematical model describing a radial stress of shallow membrane caps and to find conditions for its solvability and for the solvability of its generalization.
- 4. To construct a mathematical model describing a density profile of a gas in bubbles in some liquid and to find conditions which guarantee the existence of homoclinic solutions of the model.

# II. Discrete boundary value problems on compact intervals

In many areas, for example in the study of solid state physics, chemical reaction or population dynamics, we can find difference equations subject to some boundary conditions. Such problems are called discrete boundary value problems. They have been investigated in several monographs. See R. P. Agarwal [1], R. P. Agarwal, D. O'Regan, P. J. Y. Wong [5], R. P. Agarwal, P. J. Y. Wong [6] and W. G. Kelley, A. C. Peterson [19]. We can find also a lot of papers dealing with discrete boundary value problems. Here we investigate Dirichlet and singular mixed discrete problems.

#### 1 Dirichlet problem

For fixed  $T \in \mathbb{N}$  we define the discrete interval  $[1, T] = \{1, 2, \dots, T\}$  and study a difference equation of the form

$$\Delta(p(t)\Delta u(t-1)) + f(t, u(t)) = g(t), \quad t \in [1, T]$$
(1.1)

subject to the boundary conditions

$$u(0) = 0, \quad u(T+1) = 0.$$
 (1.2)

The discrete boundary value problem (1.1), (1.2) is called the *Dirichlet problem*. Here

$$p: [1, T+1] \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is positive,} \quad g: [1, T] \to \mathbb{R} \\ f: [1, T] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ is continuous.}$$

$$(1.3)$$

Recall that f(t, x) is continuous on  $[1, T] \times \mathbb{R}$  if for each  $t \in [1, T]$ , f(t, x) is a continuous function of x.

**Definition 1.1** By a solution u of problem (1.1), (1.2) we mean  $u: [0, T+1] \to \mathbb{R}$  such that u satisfies the difference equation (1.1) on [1, T] and the boundary conditions (1.2).

The following results are based on the paper [27]. We were motivated by the paper [23] by Yongjin Li, where he used the variational approach and proved the existence result for problem (1.1), (1.2). Here we use a completely different approach based on the lower and upper functions method. By means of this we generalized the result in [23].

**Theorem 1.2** (Existence) Assume that (1.3) and

$$\exists r > 0 \quad such \ that \quad xf(t,x) \le 0 \quad for \ t \in [1,T] \ and \ |x| \ge r, \tag{1.4}$$

hold. Then problem (1.1), (1.2) has at least one solution.

**Corollary 1.3** Assume that (1.3) holds. Let

$$g(t) < 0, \quad f(t,0) \ge 0 \quad \text{for } t \in [1,T],$$
(1.5)

$$\exists r > 0 \quad such \ that \quad f(t, x) \le 0 \quad for \ t \in [1, T] \ and \ x \ge r.$$
 (1.6)

Then problem (1.1), (1.2) has a solution u such that

$$u(t) > 0 \quad for \ t \in [1, T].$$
 (1.7)

Corollary 1.4 Assume that (1.3) holds. Let

$$g(t) > 0, \quad f(t,0) \le 0 \quad \text{for } t \in [1,T],$$
(1.8)

 $\exists r > 0 \quad such that \quad f(t, x) \ge 0 \quad for \ t \in [1, T] \ and \ x \le -r.$  (1.9)

Then problem (1.1), (1.2) has a solution u such that

$$u(t) < 0 \quad for \ t \in [1, T].$$
 (1.10)

#### 2 Singular mixed problem with *p*-Laplacian

Problem (1.1), (1.2) studied in the previous sections is regular, because function f in equation (1.1) is continuous (see (1.3)). Otherwise the corresponding problem is singular (see e.g. (2.3)). Most existence results in literature concern regular problems. Singular discrete problems have received less attention. We refer to [3], [4] and [5] where the solvability of the singular Dirichlet discrete problem was studied. Existence theorems for singular higher order discrete problems can be found in [6].

Let  $T \in \mathbb{N}$  be fixed. We define the discrete interval  $[1, T+1] = \{1, 2, \dots, T+1\}$ and consider a singular mixed problem which has a form of the following second order difference equation with the *p*-Laplacian

$$\Delta(\phi_p(\Delta u(t-1))) + f(t, u(t), \Delta u(t-1)) = 0, \quad t \in [1, T+1]$$
(2.1)

subject to the mixed boundary conditions

$$\Delta u(0) = 0, \quad u(T+2) = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

We denote  $\phi_p(y) = |y|^{p-2}y$ , p > 1 and investigate the solvability of problem (2.1), (2.2).

**Definition 2.1** By a solution u of the mixed problem (2.1), (2.2) we mean  $u: [0, T+2] \to \mathbb{R}$  such that u satisfies the difference equation (2.1) on [1, T+1] and the boundary conditions (2.2). If u(t) > 0 for  $t \in [1, T+1]$ , we say that u is a positive solution of problem (2.1), (2.2).

Let  $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . We say that f is continuous on  $[1, T + 1] \times \mathcal{D}$ , if  $f(t, \cdot, \cdot)$  is continuous on  $\mathcal{D}$  for each  $t \in [1, T + 1]$ . If  $\mathcal{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$ , problem (2.1), (2.2) is regular. If  $\mathcal{D} \neq \mathbb{R}^2$  and f has singularities

If  $\mathcal{D} = \mathbb{R}^2$ , problem (2.1), (2.2) is regular. If  $\mathcal{D} \neq \mathbb{R}^2$  and f has singularities on  $\partial \mathcal{D}$ , then problem (2.1), (2.2) is singular.

We will assume that

$$\mathcal{D} = (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}, f \text{ is continuous on } [1, T+1] \times \mathcal{D} \\
\text{and } f \text{ has a singularity at } x = 0, \text{ i.e.} \\
\lim_{x \to 0+} \sup |f(t, x, y)| = \infty \text{ for each } t \in [1, T+1] \\
\text{and for some } y \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(2.3)

Problem (2.1), (2.2) where f is continuous and has the form f(t, x) = a(t)g(x) has been investigated by Zhimin He in [15]. Here we extend the existence results of [15] onto the singular problem (2.1), (2.2) where f depends both on u and on  $\Delta u$ . These results have been published in [26].

The next theorem provides sufficient conditions for the solvability of the singular problem (2.1), (2.2). The proof is based on the construction of a sequence of approximating auxiliary regular problems and on the lower and upper functions method.

#### Theorem 2.2 (Existence)

Assume (2.3) and let the following conditions hold:

there exists  $c \in (0, \infty)$  such that  $f(t, c, 0) \le 0$  for  $t \in [1, T+1]$ , (2.4)

f is nonincreasing in y for 
$$t \in [1, T+1], x \in (0, c],$$
 (2.5)

$$\lim_{x \to 0+} f(t, x, y) = \infty \text{ for } t \in [1, T+1], \ y \in [-c, c].$$
(2.6)

Then problem (2.1), (2.2) has a solution u satisfying

$$0 < u(t) \le c \text{ for } t \in [0, T+1].$$
(2.7)

# III. Discretization of differential boundary value problems

In this chapter, which is based on the papers [28]–[30], we study a connection between discrete (difference) and continuous (differential) boundary value problems. Particular significance of our investigation lies in the fact that strange and interesting distinctions can occur between the theory of differential equations and the theory of difference equations. For example [2], properties such as existence, uniqueness and multiplicity of solutions may not be shared between the theory of differential equations and the theory of difference equation, even though the right hand side of the equations under consideration may be the same. Questions about difference problems associated with regular differential problems have been also discussed for example in [13], [16], [19], [38], [39].

### 3 Discrete and continuous singular mixed problems

We investigate discrete mixed problems as approximations of continuous mixed problems. Therefore we choose  $T \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \geq 2$  and introduce a step  $h = \frac{T}{n}$ . Using this notation we consider the singular discrete mixed boundary value problem

$$\frac{1}{h^2}\Delta^2 u_{k-1} + f(t_k, u_k) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(3.1)

$$\Delta u_0 = 0, \quad u_n = 0, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $f: [0, T] \times (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuous and f(t, x) has a singularity at x = 0, i.e. we assume

$$f \in C([0,T] \times (0,\infty)), \quad \limsup_{x \to 0+} |f(t,x)| = \infty \text{ for each } t \in (0,T).$$
 (3.3)

Here

$$t_0 = 0, \quad t_k = hk, \quad \Delta u_{k-1} = u_k - u_{k-1} \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (3.4)

**Definition 3.1** A vector  $(u_0, \ldots, u_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  satisfying equation (3.1) and the mixed boundary conditions (3.2) is called *a solution* of problem (3.1), (3.2). If  $u_k > 0$  for  $k = 0, \ldots, n-1$ , the solution is called *positive*.

The continuous version of problem (3.1), (3.2) has the form

$$y''(t) + f(t, y(t)) = 0, (3.5)$$

$$y'(0) = 0, \quad y(T) = 0.$$
 (3.6)

**Definition 3.2** A function  $y \in C[0,T] \cap C^2[0,T)$  satisfying equation (3.5) for  $t \in [0,T)$  and fulfilling the mixed boundary conditions (3.6) is called *a solution* of problem (3.5), (3.6). If y(t) > 0 for  $t \in [0,T)$ , the solution is called *positive*.

Following the paper [28], we assume that there exist functions

$$\alpha, \beta \in C[0, T], \quad 0 < \alpha(t) \le \beta(t) \quad \text{for } t \in (0, T)$$
(3.7)

and denote

$$\alpha_k = \alpha(t_k), \quad \beta_k = \beta(t_k), \quad k = 0, \dots, n.$$
(3.8)

Using this we provide conditions which imply that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \geq 2$ , the singular discrete problem (3.1), (3.2) has a positive solution  $(u_0, \ldots, u_n)$  in the sense of Definition 3.1. Then we construct an approximate function  $S^{[n]} \in C[0,T]$  by

$$S^{[n]}(t) = u_k + v_k(t - t_k), \quad t \in [t_k, t_{k+1}], \quad k = 0, \dots, n - 1,$$
(3.9)

where  $hv_k = \Delta u_k$ . Having the sequence  $\{S^{[n]}\}\$  we prove that, under proper conditions, there is a subsequence  $\{S^{[m]}\}\$  locally uniformly converging on [0, T)for  $m \to \infty$  to a positive solution y of the singular continuous problem (3.5), (3.6). This is so-called *Approximation principle*, which is contained in Theorem 3.3.

#### **Theorem 3.3** (Approximation principle)

Assume that conditions (3.3), (3.7) and (3.8) hold. Let for each  $n \ge 2$  the vectors  $(\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n)$  and  $(\beta_0, \ldots, \beta_n)$  be a lower function and an upper function of problem (3.1), (3.2) and let  $\alpha_0 > 0$ ,  $\beta_n = 0$ . Then for each  $n \ge 2$  problem (3.1), (3.2) has a solution  $(u_0, \ldots, u_n)$ , a sequence  $\{S^{[n]}\}$  can be given by (3.9) and there exists a subsequence  $\{S^{[m]}\} \subset \{S^{[n]}\}$  which converges locally uniformly on [0, T) to a solution  $y \in C[0, T] \cap C^2[0, T)$  of problem (3.5), (3.6).

If, in addition,

$$|f(t,x)| \le g_0(t,x) + g_1(t,x) \quad for \ t \in [0,T], \ x \in (0,\infty),$$
(3.10)

where  $g_0 \in C([0,T] \times (0,\infty))$  is nonincreasing in its second variable with

$$\int_0^T g_0(t, \alpha(t)) \mathrm{d}t < \infty \tag{3.11}$$

and  $g_1 \in C([0,T] \times [0,\infty))$ , then moreover  $y \in C^1[0,T]$ .

**Remark 3.4** The singular discrete problem (3.1), (3.2) has not been studied before. Assumptions (3.10) and (3.11) are forced from a singularity of this problem. We point out that these assumptions are needed neither for the solvability of problem (3.1), (3.2) nor for the convergence of the sequence  $\{S^{[m]}\}$  to a solution  $y \in C[0,T] \cap C^2[0,T)$  of problem (3.5), (3.6). They are used just in order to prove that y'(t) is continuous also at t = T.

### 4 Problems arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps

Consider a shallow membrane cap which is rotationally symmetric in its undeformed state and its shape is described in cylindrical coordinated by  $z = C(1-r^{\gamma})$ , where  $r \in [0, 1]$  and  $\gamma > 1$ . The undeformed radius is r = 1 and C > 0 is the height at the center of the cap. When a radial stress is applied on the boundary and a small uniform vertical pressure P is applied to the membrane, the shape that the cap takes is described by a nonlinear model. Baxley and Robinson [7], Dickey [11] and Johnson [17] showed that under the assumptions of small strain and small constant vertical pressure, if the deformed membrane is also rotationally symmetric, the rescaled radial stress  $S_r$  on a membrane satisfies the differential equation

$$r^{2}S_{r}'' + 3rS_{r}' = \frac{\lambda^{2}r^{2\gamma-2}}{2} + \frac{\beta\nu r^{2}}{S_{r}} - \frac{r^{2}}{8S_{r}^{2}}.$$
(4.1)

Here  $\nu \in [0, 0.5)$  is the Poisson ratio while  $\lambda$  and  $\beta$  are positive constants depending on the pressure P, the thickness of the membrane and Young's modulus. Dickey focused his attention on boundary conditions

$$\lim_{r \to 0+} r^3 S'_r(r) = 0, \quad S_r(1) = A > 0,$$

where the first (regularity) condition follows from the radial symmetry and the second condition means that the stress boundary is specified. Motivated by 4.1 we investigate the solvability of the singular discrete mixed boundary value problem

$$\frac{1}{h^2}\Delta(t_k^3\Delta u_{k-1}) + t_k^3\left(\frac{1}{8u_k^2} - \frac{a_0}{u_k} - b_0 t_k^{2\gamma - 4}\right) = 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(4.2)

$$\Delta u_0 = 0, \quad u_n = 0, \tag{4.3}$$

where  $a_0 \ge 0, b_0 > 0, \gamma > 1$ . The continuous version of problem (4.2), (4.3) has the form

$$(t^{3}y')' + t^{3}\left(\frac{1}{8y^{2}} - \frac{a_{0}}{y} - b_{0}t^{2\gamma-4}\right) = 0, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\lim_{t \to 0+} t^3 y'(t) = 0, \quad y(T) = 0, \tag{4.5}$$

and it was studied for example in [18] and [25]. The next theorem provide the existence result for the discrete membrane problem (4.2), (4.3) and its continuous version (4.4), (4.5), which is contained in the paper [29].

**Theorem 4.1** (Solvability of the membrane problem)

Let  $a_0 \geq 0$ ,  $b_0 > 0$ ,  $\gamma > 1$ . Then for each  $n \geq 2$ , the difference problem (4.2), (4.3) has a positive solution  $(u_0, \ldots, u_n)$ . Let  $y^{[n]} \in C[0,T]$  be a piece-wise linear function with  $y^{[n]}(t_k) = u_k$ ,  $k = 0, \ldots, n$ . Then there exists a subsequence  $\{y^{[m]}\} \subset \{y^{[n]}\}$  such that

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} y^{[m]}(t) = y(t) \quad \text{locally uniformly on } (0,T),$$

and  $y \in C[0,T] \cap C^2(0,T)$  is a positive solution of the differential problem (4.4), (4.5).

Further generalization of singular mixed problems is proved in Sections 11–13 of the dissertation. These results are based on the paper [30].

## IV. Boundary value problems arising in hydrodynamics

This chapter is based on the papers [31]–[34] and is devoted to the study of difference and differential equations on the half-line. This study has been inspired by some models arising in hydrodynamics.

#### 5 Construction of bubble-models

We investigate singular boundary value problems originating from the Cahn-Hilliard theory, which is used in hydrodynamics to study a behavior of nonhomogeneous fluids. The state of a non-homogeneous fluid is described by the following system of partial differential equations (see [14], [20], [24])

$$\varrho_t + \operatorname{div}(\varrho \vec{v}) = 0 \tag{5.1}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\vec{v}}{\mathrm{d}t} + \nabla(\mu(\varrho) - \gamma\Delta\varrho) = 0, \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $\rho$  is the density of the fluid,  $\vec{v}$  denotes the vector-velocity of the particles of the fluid,  $\mu(\rho)$  is the chemical potential of the fluid and  $\gamma$  is a constant parameter. By considering the case where the motion of the fluid is zero, system (5.1), (5.2) is reduced to a single equation of the form

$$\gamma \Delta \varrho = \mu(\varrho) - \mu_0, \tag{5.3}$$

where  $\mu_0$  is a constant depending of the state of the fluid. Equation (5.3) can describe the formation of microscopical bubbles in a non-homogeneous fluid, in particular, vapor inside a liquid. When we introduce the spherical coordinate system in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and search for radially symmetric strictly increasing solutions depending only on the radial variable r, then equation (5.3) leads to an ordinary differential equation of the form

$$\gamma\left(\varrho'' + \frac{2}{r}\varrho'\right) = \mu(\varrho) - \mu(\varrho_\ell), \qquad (5.4)$$

with the boundary conditions

$$\varrho'(0) = 0, \quad \lim_{r \to \infty} \varrho(r) = \varrho_{\ell} > 0.$$
(5.5)

The first condition in (5.5) follows from the central symmetry and it is also necessary for the smoothness of solution  $\rho(r)$  of equation (5.4) at r = 0. The second condition in (5.5) means that the bubble is surrounded by an external liquid with the density  $\rho_{\ell}$ . If there exists a strictly increasing solution of problem (5.4), (5.5) for some  $\rho(0) = \rho_0$  with  $0 < \rho_0 < \rho_\ell$ , then  $\rho_0$  is the density of the gas at the center of the bubble and the solution  $\rho(r)$  determines an increasing mass density in the bubble. Such solution are called bubble-type solutions and equation (5.4) is known as the density profile equation. If the bubble-type solutions exist, many important physical properties of the non-homogeneous fluid depend on them, [10], [14], [24]. Note that boundary value problems of the same kind arise in the nonlinear field theory, in particular, when describing bubbles generated by scalar fields of the Higgs type in the Minkowski spaces [35], which can be treated as the classical pattern of elementary particles [9].

# 6 Four types of solutions of non-autonomous difference equations

In the simplest models for non-homogeneous fluids, the chemical potential  $\mu$  in equation (5.4) is a third degree polynomial with three distinct real roots. After some substitution (see [24]), problem (5.4), (5.5) is reduced to the form

$$(t^{2}u')' = 4\lambda^{2}t^{2}(u+1)u(u-\xi), \qquad (6.1)$$

$$u'(0) = 0, \quad u(\infty) = \xi,$$
 (6.2)

where  $\lambda \in (0, \infty)$  and  $\xi \in (0, 1)$  are parameters.

Now, we construct a discretization of problem (6.1), (6.2). Consider h > 0and a sequence  $\{t_n\}_{n=0}^{\infty} \subset [0, \infty)$  such that

$$t_0 = 0, \quad t_n = nh, \ n \in \mathbb{N}. \tag{6.3}$$

Then the discrete analogy of problem (6.1), (6.2) has the form of the following difference problem

$$\frac{1}{h^2}\Delta(t_n^2\Delta x(n-1)) = 4\lambda^2 t_n^2(x(n)+1)x(n)(x(n)-\xi), \ n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(6.4)

$$\Delta x(0) = 0, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} x(n) = \xi. \tag{6.5}$$

Here  $t_n = hn, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and problem (6.4), (6.5) has an equivalent form

$$x(n+1) = x(n) + \left(\frac{n}{n+1}\right)^2 \left(x(n) - x(n-1) + \frac{1}{4\lambda^2 h^2(x(n)+1)x(n)(x(n)-\xi)}\right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(6.6)

$$x(0) = x(1), \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} x(n) = \xi.$$
 (6.7)

We will investigate the following generalization of the non-autonomous equation (6.6)

$$x(n+1) = x(n) + \left(\frac{n}{n+1}\right)^2 \left(x(n) - x(n-1) + h^2 f(x(n))\right), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}, \quad (6.8)$$

where f is supposed to fulfil

$$L_0 < 0 < L, \quad f \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\operatorname{loc}}(\mathbb{R}), \quad f(L_0) = f(0) = f(L) = 0,$$
 (6.9)

$$xf(x) < 0 \text{ for } x \in (L_0, L) \setminus \{0\},$$
 (6.10)

$$\exists \bar{B} \in [L_0, 0) \text{ such that } \int_{\bar{B}}^{L} f(z) \, \mathrm{d}z = 0.$$
(6.11)

A sequence  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  which satisfies (6.8) is called a solution of equation (6.8). We will work with the initial condition

 $x(0) = B, \quad x(1) = B, \quad B \in (L_0, 0).$  (6.12)

**Definition 6.1** Let  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a solution of problem (6.8), (6.12) such that

$${x(n)}_{n=1}^{\infty}$$
 is increasing,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} x(n) = 0.$  (6.13)

Then  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called a damped solution.

**Definition 6.2** Let  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a solution of problem (6.8), (6.12) which fulfils

 $\{x(n)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is increasing,  $\lim_{n \to \infty} x(n) = L.$  (6.14)

Then  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called a homoclinic solution.

**Definition 6.3** Let  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a solution of problem (6.8), (6.12). Assume that there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}$ , such that  $\{x(n)\}_{n=1}^{b+1}$  is increasing and

$$x(b) \le L < x(b+1). \tag{6.15}$$

Then  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called an escape solution.

**Definition 6.4** Let  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a solution of problem (6.8), (6.12). Assume that there exists  $b \in \mathbb{N}$ , b > 1, such that  $\{x(n)\}_{n=1}^{b}$  is increasing and

$$0 < x(b) < L, \quad x(b+1) \le x(b). \tag{6.16}$$

Then  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is called a non-monotonous solution.

**Theorem 6.5** (On four types of solutions) Assume that (6.9) and (6.10) hold. Let  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  be a solution of problem (6.8), (6.12). Then  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is just one of the following four types:

- (I)  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is an escape solution;
- (II)  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is a homoclinic solution;
- (III)  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is a damped solution;
- (IV)  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  is a non-monotonous solution.

**Theorem 6.6** (On the existence of non-monotonous or damped solutions) Assume that (6.9), (6.10) and (6.11) hold. Let  $B \in (\bar{B}, 0)$ . Then there exists  $h_B > 0$  such that if  $h \in (0, h_B]$ , then the corresponding solution  $\{x(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  of problem (6.8), (6.12) is non-monotonous or damped.

**Theorem 6.7** (On the existence of escape solutions)

There exists  $h^* > 0$  such that for any  $h \in (0, h^*]$  the initial value problem (6.8), (6.12) has an escape solution for some  $B \in (L_0, \overline{B})$ .

**Theorem 6.8** (On the existence of homoclinic solutions)

There exists  $h^* > 0$  such that for any  $h \in (0, h^*]$  there exists a homoclinic solution  $\{x^*(n)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$  of problem (6.8), (6.12), that is  $\{x^*(n)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is increasing and  $\lim_{n\to\infty} x^*(n) = L$ .

Theorems 6.5-6.8 have been proved in sections 16-19 of the habilitation. In Section 15 of the habilitation the autonomous case of problem (6.8), (6.12) has been investigated.

#### References

- [1] R. P. AGARWAL. Difference Equations and Inequalities. Theory, Methods and Applications. Second edition, revised and expanded. *Marcel Dekker*, New York 2000.
- [2] R. P. AGARWAL. On multipoint boundary value problems for discrete equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 96 (1983), 520–534.
- [3] R. P. AGARWAL, K. PERERA, D. O'REGAN. Multiple positive solutions of singular and nonsingular discrete problems via variational methods. *Nonlinear Analysis* 58 (2004), 69–73.
- [4] R. P. AGARWAL, D. O'REGAN. Singular discrete boundary value problems. Applied Mathematics Letters 12 (1999), 127–131.
- [5] R. P. AGARWAL, D. O'REGAN, P. J. Y. WONG. Positive Solutions of Differential, Difference and Integral Equations. *Kluwer*, Dordrecht 1999.
- [6] R. P. AGARWAL, P. J. Y. WONG. Advanced Topics in Difference Equations. *Kluwer*, Dordrecht 1997.
- [7] J. V. BAXLEY AND S. B. ROBINSON. Nonlinear boundary value problems for shallow membrane caps II. J. Comp. Appl. Math. 88 (1998), 203–224.
- [8] F. BRAUER, C. CASTILLO-CHÁVEZ. Mathematical Models in Population Biology and Epidemiology. Springer, New York 2001.
- [9] G. H. DERRICK. Comments on nonlinear wave equations as models for elementary particles. J. Math. Physics 5 (1965), 1252–1254.
- [10] F. DELL'ISOLA, H. GOUIN AND G. ROTOLI. Nucleation of spherical shelllike interfaces by second gradient theory: numerical simulations. *Eur. J. Mech B/Fluids* 15 (1996), 545–568.
- [11] R. W. DICKEY. Rotationally symmetric solutions for shallow membrane caps. Quart. Appl. Math. 47 (1989), 571–581.
- [12] S. N. ELAYDI. An Introduction to Difference Equations. 2nd ed. Springer, New York 1999.
- [13] R. GAINES. Difference equations associated with boundary value problems for second order nonlinear ordinary differential equations. SIAM J. Numer. Anal. 11 (1974), 411–434.
- [14] H. GOUIN, G. ROTOLI. An analytical approximation of density profile and surface tension of microscopic bubbles for Van der Waals fluids. *Mech. Re*search Communic. 24 (1997), 255–260.

- [15] Z. HE. On the existence of positive solutions of p-Laplacian difference equations. J. Comp. Appl. Math. 161 (2003), 193–201.
- [16] J. HENDERSON, H. B. THOMPSON. Difference equations associated with fully nonlinear boundary value problems for second order ordinary differential equations. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 7 (2001), 297–321.
- [17] K. N. JOHNSON. Circularly symmetric deformation of shallow elastic membrane caps. Quart. Appl. Math. 55 (1997), 537–550.
- [18] R. KANNAN AND D. O'REGAN. Singular and nonsingular boundary value problems with sign changing nonlinearities. J. Inequal. Appl. 5 (2000), 621– 637.
- [19] W. G. KELLEY, A. C. PETERSON. Difference equations. An introduction with applications. 2nd ed. *Academic Press*, San Diego 2001.
- [20] G. KITZHOFER, O. KOCH, P. LIMA, E. WEINMÜLLER. Efficient numerical solution of the density profile equation in hydrodynamics. J. Sci. Comput. 32 (2007), 411–424.
- [21] H. J. KORSCH, H.-J. JODL. Chaos. Springer-Verlag, Berlin 1994.
- [22] M. R. S. KULENOVIĆ, G. LADAS. Dynamics of Second Order Rational Difference Equations. *Chapman & Hall/CRC*, Boca Raton 2002.
- [23] Y. LI. The existence of solutions for second-order difference equations. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 12 (2006), 209–212.
- [24] P. M. LIMA, N. V. CHEMETOV, N. B. KONYUKHOVA, A. I. SUKOV. Analytical-numerical investigation of bubble-type solutions of nonlinear singular problems. J. Comp. Appl. Math. 189 (2006), 260–273.
- [25] I. RACHŮNKOVÁ, O. KOCH, G. PULVERER AND E. WEINMÜLLER. On a singular boundary value problem arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 332 (2007), 523–541.
- [26] I. RACHŮNKOVÁ, L. RACHŮNEK. Singular discrete second order BVPs with p-Laplacian. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 12 (2006), 811–819.
- [27] I. RACHŮNKOVÁ, L. RACHŮNEK. Solvability of discrete Dirichlet problem via lower and upper functions method. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 13 (2007), 423–429.
- [28] I. RACHŮNKOVÁ, L. RACHŮNEK. Singular discrete and continuous mixed boundary value problems. Math. Comp. Modelling 49 (2009), 413–422.

- [29] I. RACHŮNKOVÁ, L. RACHŮNEK. Singular discrete problem arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps. J. Difference Equ. Appl. 14 (2008), 747– 767.
- [30] L. RACHŮNEK, I. RACHŮNKOVÁ. Approximation of differential problems with singularities and time discontinuities. *Nonlinear Analysis*, *TMA* 71 (2009), e1448–e1460.
- [31] L. RACHŮNEK, I. RACHŮNKOVÁ. On a homoclinic point of some autonomous second-order difference equation. J. Difference Equ. Appl., DOI: 10.1080/10236190903257834.
- [32] L. RACHŮNEK. On four types of solutions of a second-order difference equation. J. Difference Equ. Appl., DOI: 10.1080/10236198.2010.531275.
- [33] L. RACHŮNEK, I. RACHŮNKOVÁ. Strictly increasing solutions of nonautonomous difference equations arising in hydrodynamics. Advances in Difference Equations. Recent Trends in Differential and Difference Equations. Vol. 2010, Article ID 714891, 1–11.
- [34] L. RACHŮNEK, I. RACHŮNKOVÁ. Homoclinic solutions of non-autonomous difference equations arising in hydrodynamics. *Nonlinear Analysis: Real* World Applications 12 (2011), 14–23.
- [35] V. A. RUBAKOV. Classical Gauge Fields (in Russian). Editorial URSS, Moscow 1999.
- [36] J. T. SANDERFUR. Discrete Dynamical Systems. Clarendon Press, Oxford 1990.
- [37] H. SEDAGHAT. Nonlinear Difference Equations. *Kluwer*, Dordrecht 2003.
- [38] H. B. THOMPSON, C. TISDELL. Boundary value problems for systems of difference equations associated with systems of second-order ordinary differential equations. *Applied Mathematics Letters* 15 (2002), 761–766.
- [39] H. B. THOMPSON, C. TISDELL. The nonexistence of spurious solutions to discrete, two-point boundary value problems. *Applied Mathematics Letters* 16 (2003), 79–84.
- [40] P. N. V. TU. Dynamical Systems. *Springer*, Berlin 1994.

#### Author's publications list

#### a) Original scientific papers published in scientific journals with IF > 0.5

- [a1] I. Rachůnková, L. Rachůnek: Singular discrete second order BVPs with p-Laplacian. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications 12 (2006), 811–819. IF: 0,748
- [a2] I. Rachůnková, L. Rachůnek: Solvability of discrete Dirichlet problem via lower and upper functions method. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications 13 (2007), 423–429. IF: 0,748
- [a3] I. Rachůnková, L. Rachůnek: Singular discrete problem arising in the theory of shallow membrane caps. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications 14 (2008), 747–767. IF: 0,748
- [a4] I. Rachůnková, L. Rachůnek: Singular discrete and continuous mixed boundary value problems. Math. Comp. Modelling 49 (2009), 413–422. IF: 1,103
- [a5] L. Rachůnek, I. Rachůnková: Approximation of differential problems with singularities and time discontinuities. Nonlinear Analysis, TMA 71 (2009), e1448–e1460. IF: 1,487
- [a6] L. Rachůnek, I. Rachůnková: On a homoclinic point of some autonomous second-order difference equation. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications. DOI: 10.1080/10236190903257834 IF: 0,748
- [a7] L. Rachůnek, I. Rachůnková: Strictly increasing solutions of non-autonomous difference equations arising in hydrodynamics. Advances in Difference Equations, Recent Trends in Differential and Difference Equations Vol. 2010, Article ID 714891, 11 pages. IF: 0,892
- [a8] L. Rachůnek, I. Rachůnková: Homoclinic solutions of non-autonomous difference equations arising in hydrodynamics. Nonlinear Analysis: Real World Applications 12 (2011) 14–23. IF: 2,381
- [a9] L. Rachůnek: On four types of solutions of a second-order difference equation. Journal of Difference Equations and Applications. DOI: 10.1080/10236198.2010.531275. IF: 0,748
- [a10] I. Rachůnková, L. Rachůnek, J. Tomeček: Existence of oscillatory solutions of singular nonlinear differential equations. Abstract and Applied Analysis Vol. 2011, Article ID 408525, 20 pages. IF: 2,221

#### b) Original scientific papers without IF

[b1] J. Mikeš, L. Rachůnek: On T-semisymmetric Riemannian spaces admitting torse-forming vector fields. Abstr. of Contrib. Papers, The XI Petrov School, Kazan 1999, 64–65.

- [b2] Lukáš Rachůnek: Vytváření ilustrací z deskriptivní geometrie pomocí programu METAFONT. Sborník konference z geometrie a počítačové grafiky, Zadov 1999, 80–83.
- [b3] J. Mikeš, L. Rachůnek: Torse-forming vector fields in T-semisymmetric Riemannian spaces. Steps in Differential Geometry, July 25–30, Debrecen 2000, Univ. Debrecen, Debrecen 2001, 219–229.
- [b4] L. Rachůnek, J. Mikeš: *T-semisymmetric spaces and concircular vector fields.* 8th Intern. Conf. Diff. Geom. Appl., Opava 2001, 22–23.
- [b5] J. Mikeš, L. Rachůnek: *T-semisymmetric spaces and concircular vector fields*. Supplemento ai Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo, II. Ser. 69, Palermo 2002, 187–193.
- [b6] L. Rachůnek, J. Mikeš: On semitorse-forming vector fields. Proceedings of Aplimat 2004, Bratislava 2004, 835–840.
- [b7] M. Lehocký, L. Lapčík, Jr., R. Dlabaja, L. Rachůnek, J. Stoch: Influence of artificially accelerated ageing on the adhesive joint of plasma treated polymer materials. Czechoslovak Journal of Physics, Vol. 54 (2004), Suppl. C, Praha 2004, 533–538.
- [b8] L. Rachůnek, J. Mikeš: On tensor fields semiconjugated with torse-forming vector fields. Acta Univ. Palacki. Olomuc., Fac. rer. nat., Mathematica 44 (2005), Olomouc 2005, 151–160.

#### c) Textbooks

- [c1] L. Novák, J. Mikeš, L. Rachůnek, J. Zedník: Algebra a geometrie. FT VUT, Zlín 1999.
- [c2] Lukáš Rachůnek: T<sub>E</sub>X a plain. PřF UP, Olomouc 2003.
- [c3] L. Rachůnek, I. Rachůnková: Diferenciální počet funkcí více proměnných. PřF UP, Olomouc 2004.

#### Abstract

This habilitation dissertation is devoted to second order discrete boundary value problems. Essentially, this is a collection of the papers [26]–[34], which provides new or more general existence results for regular discrete problems. Singular discrete problems studied here have not been solved before.

Chapter II of the dissertation deals with the discrete Dirichlet problem. In particular, known existence results by Y. Li [23] are generalized. Then the discrete mixed problem with the *p*-Laplacian, both in regular and in singular cases, is investigated. The existence results proved here extend and generalize the previous ones for the regular case by Z. He [15]. The singular case is new.

Chapter III of the thesis contains new results about the solvability of singular difference and differential boundary value problems on compact intervals and about their connections. The application on mathematical models describing a radial stress of shallow membrane caps is given.

Chapter IV investigates difference and differential equations on the half-line and provides new existence results of four types of their possible solutions: escape, homoclinic, damped and non-monotonous solutions. The application on a mathematical model describing a density profile of a gas in bubbles in some liquid is given. Examples with numerical simulations illustrate the results of Chapter IV.